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Bill/Resolution No.: SB 2153

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues

Expenditures

Appropriations

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

Counties

Cities

School Districts

Townships

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

This bill provides that a memorandum of understanding may be entered into for the court system to provide services 
to juveniles adjudicated in tribal court.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

The fiscal impact can not be determined. The court system does not have sufficient information on the number of 
youths it would involve or the services required to meet their needs.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.



Name: Don Wolf

Agency: Court System

Telephone: 328-3508

Date Prepared: 01/11/2019
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Judiciary Committee 
Fort Lincoln Room, State Capitol 
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1/14/2019 

#30714 (39:07) 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk: Meghan Pegel 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 27-20 of the North Dakota Century 
Code, relating to cooperative agreements to provide services to juveniles adjudicated in tribal court; 
to provide for a report to legislative management; and to provide an expiration date 

 
 

Minutes:                                                 3 Attachments 

 
Chair Larson opens the hearing on SB 2153. 
 
Nicole Poolman, District 7 Senator, testifies in favor of the bill (see attachment #1). 
 
(3:26) Senator Luick: What age groups does this cover? 
Senator Poolman: This is for minors. 
Chair Larson: Juveniles between the ages of 7 and 17 unless we pass the bill that says that 
the minimum age will be 10. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: The fiscal note says they couldn’t determine impact because there’s 
not sufficient information on the number of use it would involve, but the courts have said they 
think they can absorb it? 
Senator Poolman: Correct. 
 
Senator Bakke: It says provisions will be based on availability of state resources. There is 
potential that if they’re full or overloaded, that no services would be available. 
Senator Poolman: Correct. If there isn’t a slot available, the state will not take them on. 
 
Senator Bakke: What is the usage right now? Is there a waiting list? Is it already saturated? 
I want them to have availability to these services. 
Senator Poolman: I will have to defer that question. 
 
(5:30) Lisa Bjergaard, Director of the ND Division of Juvenile Services, testifies in favor of 
the bill. 
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Bjergaard: I have words from Judge Donovan Foughty who was one of our district judges in 
the Devils Lake area. He works with the Spirit Lake nation as well as Turtle Mountain (see 
attachment #2) 
 
(8:50) Chair Larson: Can you address the previous question for Senator Bakke- if there isn’t 
any placement available. 
Bjergaard: In my opinion this bill is better than the one that was introduced 2 years ago. 
What Judge Foughty had begun 2 years ago was a concern about the division of juvenile 
services and whether kids could get those services which includes the correctional center. It 
makes no sense just to get them that slice of corrections way on the end. They need the 
juvenile justice services that are available through the juvenile court. The Juvenile court was 
added this time so that youth would have the availability of services all the way from the 
prevention, diversion, early intervention things throughout the continuum of what is available 
to youth. This is an improved version.  
One of the reasons that we talk about- creating an MOU. We probably would not need your 
support for that. What we want to do is see what the volume looks like. We cannot come in 
and propose to you, or give you good fiscal notes, or a lot of information about what needs 
are until we have some time and a mechanism for doing some work with tribal courts so we 
can understand the data. We don’t know what the numbers are. We want to work with tribes 
and try to develop some sort of arrangement. There is an arrangement between the Devils 
Lake drug court and Spirit Lake that seems to be working very well. We are hoping that that 
is what we are able to establish, but we need everybody on board with permission. In our 
system Native American youth are overrepresented. At some point these kids are failing 
enough to get themselves into state court. It’s probably better for all of us if we do some 
things early on and stem that tide. 
 
Senator Bakke: What is the usage of those programs right now? Are there waiting lists? Is 
there room even to collect the data? 
Bjergaard: It would be my hope that we are not talking about placing kids in beds. We are 
talking about providing services and case management in the community wherever and 
whenever we can. For instance, if we’re providing a drug and alcohol group to 8 kids and 
capacity in that group is 10, we’ve got room for a couple more. Those are the things we are 
talking about. When it comes to a hard bed at juvenile corrections, those are court orders 
and we don’t control the door in those cases. We’ve worked really hard in the last 4 or 5 
years. In 2014 our average daily count by the end of the year was down to 71. This last year 
it’s down to 50 which means that in the last 3 or 4 months I haven’t had 50 kids at the youth 
correctional. We’re really trying to make sure the kids are served appropriately in the 
community. 
 
(13:37) Senator Bakke: I’m wondering about the services. Oftentimes social workers have 
over the top caseloads. I want to make sure we have those services available for those youth 
early on to prevent what you’re talking about. I don’t know how busy we are. 
Bjergaard: After a couple of years we will be able to answer that better. 
 
Chair Larson: Will you be keeping track of the disproportionate minority youth numbers 
before and after this? 
Bjergaard: I can’t speak for the court, but we track those numbers. So yes. 
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Senator Myrdal: In the testimony that Senator Poolman gave us from last time, I notice it 
was mentioned specific counties that have no service. Is that still correct? 
Bjergaard: To the best of my awareness, that is still correct. That’s just a fact of rural life. 
Part of where that information came from was in preparing what Vanette presented, she 
spent a lot of time with Judge Foughty, and that’s his bench. He was lamenting that there are 
times where by the time the youth bounces around enough to make it to his court, they are 
in serious need of some very high structured help. 
 
(16:10) Joan Heckaman, District 23 Senator, testifies in favor of the bill 
 
Senator Heckaman: I have all the Spirit Lake nation in my legislative district. This is an issue 
that’s been important to me. At the end of December Judge Foughty had scheduled a 
legislative briefing with us, but had to be cancelled due to the roads and weather. We never 
got to hear part of what Lisa and Judge Foughty are lobbying for. I visited with Judge 
Kavanagh from Spirit Lake nation. At the end of December there was a government to 
government conference in Bismarck and he was there. This is certainly a concern of his too 
as a reservation judge. When I taught on the reservation up there, I did special education 
from 2004-2009 and from 2009-2013 I worked in their alternative high school working with 
their youth. There used to be services for juveniles in the lake region but is no longer 
available.  
 
I had a student that came from the alternative program and ended up housed at the Lake 
Region Correctional Facility for the youth there. I sent lessons back forth. Towards the middle 
of May, I got a note from this individual that said “Mrs. Heckaman, can you please allow the 
courts to have me stay here until the end of school otherwise I know I wouldn’t be able to 
finish school. If I go back, I know I won’t have the support and be able to have the time to 
finish my schooling.” That wasn’t possible. There wasn’t a way to do that at that time. I’m not 
sure if that student has ever finished their schooling.  
 
Those are the things that go on. We don’t have the facilities there anymore to provide that. 
We do have the ability to provide their schooling while they are there, sending lessons in and 
they have someone there at the facility to facilitate those lessons coming back and forth from 
the schools. The problem is that those are gone now too. Judge Kavanagh is concerned up 
there on the number of individuals. I’ve been in his courtroom with a student whose parents 
didn’t show up that day. I was called in by the court to be there on the student’s behalf.  
 
There is a lot of need out there that we don’t see in the regular judicial system. Looking at 
what is coming forward out of this bill, if Lisa can support it, I can too. I have confidence in 
her and the work she does. There is a comment that “In Indian country, if you want to get 
services to a Native American youth, you give him a brick and tell him to throw it through a 
window” because it’s the only way we can get him in. We don’t want that to happen. We want 
to have the services available. Going through the BIA it’s difficult for Judge Kavanagh to have 
that support too. Somehow through the juvenile system and this bill, we have to figure this 
out. We can’t let it go on two more years. 
 
Senator Bakke: Do they provide those services on the reservation or do they have to travel? 
Senator Heckaman: I will defer that question to Lisa. Like I mentioned our meeting with 
Judge Foughty was cancelled so we weren’t able to get that information.  
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(21:47) Cory Pederson, Director of Juvenile Court, testifies in favor of the bill 
Pederson: The services are being provided mostly off the reservation. They have to travel if 
those services exist in the neighboring counties. Standing Rock would have to travel to 
Burleigh County. Spirit Lake goes to the Devils Lake region and if Devils Lake doesn’t have 
the specific service, like psychiatric services or assessments, then they would have to travel 
to probably Grand Forks. It’s mostly all off reservation. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: Would that change if this bill is passed? 
Pederson: This is a pilot, so we would have to look into that. I think we can bring services to 
them. There are a lot of services in our communities that we do travel and some outreach. 
15 years many of the Human Services used to travel to counties to do services. That doesn’t 
really happen, but we can look at other services. It’s a cooperative agreement, so it will 
depend on the agreements of each tribe and what they want. Some of it is communication 
and sharing of resources and information. That can be valuable for many of the kids and 
families. 
Bjergaard: We provide in home services. Our case managers and home therapy are in their 
homes. Many families don’t know what to do so simply having a professional in the system 
that knows what services are available can guide them. Those things will not cost us more 
because we will fit that into the existing probation officer or division of juvenile services case 
management structure. There will be formidable challenges with travel, there always is, but 
we will have a better handle on what we have out there after. 
 
(25:41) Erica Thunder, Judicial Systems Administrator for the ND Indian Affairs 
Commission, testifies in favor for bill (see attachment #3) 
 
(36:45) Senator Myrdal: On page 4 you say the tribes have to enter into an agreement? Do 
they enter into an agreement individually per case or is it an overall agreement with the 
juvenile court? 
Thunder: I will defer that question. I believe generally each tribe has the option to opt into an 
agreement like this and can change it as they want to. 
 
Senator Bakke: What services are presently provided on the reservation in these cases? 
Thunder: It depends on the case. There are some that aren’t receiving anything. I’m seeing 
some work on my tribe, and I’m very proud of the work that’s being done with the goodwill 
recovery treatment center. They will directly work with youth that struggle with substance 
abuse, but it is very limited. 
 
Chair Larson closes the hearing on SB 2153. 
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☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk: Meghan Pegel 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 27-20 of the North Dakota Century 
Code, relating to cooperative agreements to provide services to juveniles adjudicated in tribal court; 
to provide for a report to legislative management; and to provide an expiration date 

 
 

Minutes:                                                 No Attachments 

 
Chair Larson calls the committee to order to discuss SB 2153. 
 
Chair Larson: This is pretty straightforward; we just ran out of time yesterday to take action.   
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer:  Moved a Do Pass 
Senator Osland:  Seconded. 

 
Senator Myrdal: I’m not familiar with tribal law and the agreements between their 
sovereignty and ours. I agree with this bill, but are they unable to provide services for 
themselves? 
Chair Larson: When I worked at the police youth bureau, I know sometimes on the 
reservation, a juvenile who was adjudicated or even just held would be housed in the jail with 
adult offenders because that was all they had available. This looks like an effort to try to 
provide services to the young people in our state, off or on the reservation. We have better 
services and facilities to be able to provide that intervention for those youth. We already do 
provide those things for Native Americans that live off the reservation, so I think this is an 
effort to provide better services for all youth regardless of residence. 
 
Senator Luick: What was the deal with the fiscal note? 
Chair Larson: There is no fiscal impact. They think they can probably absorb what is already 
in place. They weren’t certain until they’ve done it to see if there really was an actual fiscal 
impact. They aren’t aware of any that can be reported at this time. 

 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 6 yeas, 0 nays, 0 absent. Motion carries. 
 
Chair Larson will carry the bill. 
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☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk:   DeLores D. Shimek 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 
 
Relating to cooperative agreements to provide services to juveniles adjudicated in 
tribal court; to provide for a report to legislative date. 
  
 

Minutes:                                                   1,2 

 
Chairman Koppelman:  Opened the hearing on SB 2153. 
 
Senator Poolman: (Attachment #1) Went over testimony. 
 
Rep. Vetter:  This went through GVA last session? I remember the issue was something to 
do with the funding this program and the whole sovereignty thing and mixing the courts 
together and there were some issues there.  Do you remember? 
 
Senator Poolman:  It came through the Senate with all in agreement.  We didn’t see those 
as issues on the Senate side. The carrier of the bill Rep. B. Koppelman expressed that fact 
state and tribal relations had become so strained that was truly the issue at hand at the time. 
 
Erica Thunder, Judicial Systems Administrator:  We were happy to see it go through the 
Senate Judiciary Committee. (Attachment 2) Went over the testimony. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: The fiscal note is nothing. That tells me DOCR really wants this 
to happen. 
 
Erica Thunder:  Yes DOCR wants this to happen? Continued with testimony.   
 
Rep. Paur:  The judicial system is under considerable strain.  Do you think they could handle 
this? 
 
Erica Thunder:  It is not a huge amount of youth that would be under this. It encourages 
judges to look at this as a means to fix something that is ongoing.  
 
Rep. Rick Becker:  We are told year in and year out the judicial system is overburdened.  
You would not be comfortable if you had the resources we will do it. It is better to have a 
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fiscal note putting money in so you know that these youths will actually be taken care of. In 
your discussions; did you discuss the capacity for taking on x-number of youth and does it 
meet the needs? 
 
Erica Thunder:  Yes. That is why it was outlined in page 2 of SB, line 3, subsection d; juvenile 
court may limit the number of tribal juveniles excepted based on criteria developed by the 
juvenile court and the availability of state resources and services.  That was a concern that 
was raised. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker: This says we can take on the youth as long as we have the resources. 
That is what I was wondering about.  What is the number that you are aware of that we could 
take on? 
 
Erica Thunder: There has been no specific number that has been outlined. DOCR is very 
comfortable with this.  They don’t think we need to outline the cases. Is it the intent of having 
the framework to exist in general? 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: Do you see that agreement then forcing the tribal government to 
prioritize cases so you would say this group of juveniles really needs help and then we will 
do it based upon need? 
 
Erica Thunder:  That wasn’t a concern when going over it.  When speaking to each of the 
tribes there was much said about the good will about this framework existing in general and 
not a concern about the high volume of numbers and who might be picked and who might 
not.  Anything is better than nothing and having this is good. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: You want to make the those with the greatest need are getting 
the services they need. 
 
Rep. Buffalo:  Do you see this agreement having potential to curb the schools of prison 
pipeline that we see so much especially within our BIA because we know that native 
American, Alaska Natives are the highest that are incardinated by it in the state, county 
federal level.   
 
Erica Thunder:  Absolutely.  That was our intent of this bill.  The idea behind it was we can 
provide services in areas of behavioral health; which is so expansive; we can start changing 
that projector to that point. 
 
Rep. Jones:  I hear the federal laws governs on the reservation.  Is this a way to intervene 
for young people so they have a better outcome? 
 
Erica Thunder:  Yes it can be very complex.  Typically, tribal law will apply in the cases we 
are talking about.  We are not talking about major crimes.  We would be talking about when 
double jeopardy does occur when a major crime is committed by a tribal member versus or 
tribal member or tribal members versus non-tribal member.  The federal laws do come into 
play. 
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Scott Davis, Executive Director of ND Indian Affairs Commission:  That is the whole 
focus of this to keep youth out of further trouble.       
 
Opposition: None 
 
Neutral:  None 
 
Hearing closed. 
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☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk:   DeLores D. Shimek 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 
 
Relating to cooperative agreements to provide services to juveniles adjudicated in tribal 
court; to provide for a report to legislative date. 
  
 

Minutes:                                                   

 
Chairman Koppelman:  Opened the meeting on SB 2153. 
 
Do Pass Motion Made by Rep. Hanson; Seconded by Rep. Satrom 
 
Discussion: 
 
Rep. Vetter:  This was the same bill that went through our GVA committee last session.  
Some issues they had with it was using our juvenile system so I don’t know how there isn’t a 
fiscal note.  There were some issues with this last time. There was no fiscal note and I don’t 
see how they can use our juvenile system and it is not going to cost us any money. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: That was discussed during the hearing.  This was introduced last 
session as well.  I don’t recall if there was some opposition on it for that reason, but my 
understanding is all parties are on board this time.  The way the bill language is crafted it 
allows them to monitor.  It doesn’t require them to take any certain amount of people.  Would 
the tribe look at the most egregious cases and they would fast track those into the juvenile 
justice system and we didn’t get a clear answer to that.  My guess is that is what they are 
looking at doing. The fiscal note does indicate the cost can’t be determined. 
 
Rep. Jones:  That is why this is a pilot program.  This is definitely taking on more 
responsibility.  I am going to support it. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: This is not going to be referred to appropriations so will see how 
this works.  The entire tribal court system is in need of additional services. 
 
Rep. McWilliams:  I am going to oppose this motion as it is right now.  We have a strain on 
our systems and services right now just with the population as it is now.  We are already 
struggling with workloads and it puts undo pressure on it.    
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Chairman K. Koppelman: On the sovereignty issue that is why it calls for a cooperative 
agreement.  There is a sunset clause and a two-year window. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker:  It is certainly good intent.  The sovereignty issue blurs the lines. I think 
the reservation system is broken and when we keep doing these types of things we are 
prolonging this broken system. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: I understand that.  I have no idea of what the number will be; 
apparently they can control that. 
 
Rep. Jones:  We are always being a there is higher rates in the native population; but how 
can you compared and we are always being told how there is higher rates of crime, suicide, 
abuse and everything in the native population.  I sympathize with that, but how can you 
compare their rates to ND rates when we are operating on a completely different system?  At 
least this is a piece to do a pilot program to try get a better look at it. 
 
Roll Call Vote:   7   Yes    6   No    1   Absent     Carrier:  Rep. Jones 
 
Closed. 
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